1999

Wydredge, LLC v. Airport Partners, LLC and Brent Parrish: Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

The Supreme Court has jurisdiction in this matter pursuant to §78-2-2(3)(j) in that this is an appeal from a final judgment of a Court of Record over which the Court of Appeals does not have original appellate jurisdiction. This case is subject to assignment to the Court of Appeals.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN GRANTING APPELLEE'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT? DID THE COURT ALSO ERR IN REFUSING TO STAY THE RELEASE OF LIS PENDENS DURING THIS APPEAL.

Wydredge claims it entered into a contract with Brent Parrish and there were sufficient facts and details regarding their agreement so as to have an enforceable contract. At a very minimum, if there was dispute regarding the parties' intent in that contract, then that was an issue for the fact finder. The Court erred in concluding that the agreement was vague and lacked sufficient material terms.

The standard of review on appeal requires the appellate court to accord no deference to the trial court's legal conclusions given to support its grant of summary judgment. The trial court's ruling is to be reviewed for correctness. There is no presumption of correctness. See Schurtz v. BMW of N.A.M., Inc. 814 P.2d 1108 (Utah 1991) and In Re General Determination of the Rights to the Use of All the Water 982 P.2d 65, 69 (Utah 1999). The appellate court is also required to view the facts and all reasonable inferences in a light most favorable to the plaintiff. See Neiderhauser Builders & Development Corp. v. Campbell 824 P.2d 1193 (Utah Court App. 1992).

DETERMINATIVE STATUTES

There are no statutes, constitutional provisions, rules or regulations whose interpretation would be determinative or of importance to this appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. NATURE OF THE CASE.

This is an appeal from the trial court's granting of the appellee's Motion for

Summary Judgment.

II. COURSE OF THE PROCEEDINGS.

Wydredge initiated legal action against Airport Partners and Brent Parrish alleging that a contract existed between it and the defendants which contemplated a joint venture between the parties for the construction and operation of a hotel on property owned by the defendants. After Wydredge initiated its legal action, defendants filed a Motion for Summary Judgment. The motion was argued before the Honorable Sandra Peuler on August 2, 1999.

III. DISPOSITION AT TRIAL COURT.

Following oral arguments on Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment, the Honorable Sandra Peuler granted defendants' motion orally from the bench. The formal order granting defendants' motion was signed by the court on August 30, 1999. That Order and Judgment are attached as part of the addendum to this brief.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Wydredge is a limited liability company that owns and operates the Comfort Suites Hotel in Ogden, Utah. Homer Cutrubus ("Cutrubus") is one of the members of that limited liability company. (*Cutrubus deposition, pages 11 & 12 R-179.*)

Sometime during a trip in the fall of 1997, the paths of Brent Parrish ("Parrish") and Cutrubus crossed. Parrish made inquiries of Cutrubus regarding a possible joint enterprise between Wydredge and him to construct a hotel and engage in a hotel business on property owned by Parrish in Salt Lake City, Utah near the airport.

(Cutrubus deposition page 14 R-180.) Cutrubus told Parrish that if he wanted to know more about the hotel business, he could call the managers of the Ogden Comfort Suites, Barry Eldredge ("Eldredge") or Clayton Wyman ("Wyman"). Eldredge and Wyman are also members of Wydredge, L.L.C. *(Cutrubus deposition page 15 R-180.)*

Parrish did call and made arrangements to meet with Eldredge and Wyman at a restaurant near his airport property. *(Parrish deposition page 5 R-203).* During this discussion, Parrish initially suggested that he pay Wydredge a consulting fee to do preliminary work necessary for him to develop the property and operate a hotel. *(Wyman deposition, page 32 R-222.)* Eldredge and Wyman traveled to Tucson to investigate franchise opportunities for Parrish. *(Wyman deposition, page 38 R-224).* Wyman also indicated to Parrish that as another option Wydredge would be interested in managing the hotel with a long-term management contract. *(Wyman deposition page 33 R-222).*

Following these initial discussions, Parrish came to Wydredge and told them he could not get financing and wanted Wydredge to be his partner in a joint venture for the hotel project. *(Wyman deposition page 33 R-222.)* A meeting was held at the Comfort Suites Hotel in Ogden on November 20, 1998. Parrish was present together with all members of Wydredge. Parrish told Wydredge that he had land that was free and clear that would be the site for a new hotel and about \$650,000

cash that he would be willing to put up. He was willing to provide the land and cash, but did not want to have any liability as far as the long-term financing or mortgage responsibility was concerned. (*Cutrubus deposition page 19 R-181.*) (*Rumpsa Affidavit R-170.*)

By the end of that meeting, all present had agreed to investigate the feasibility of the project with the understanding that if there were no major environmental or financing problems, the parties would go forward with the project under the terms agreed to at that meeting. (*Rumpsa Affidavit R-170.*) Both before and during this meeting, it was made clear to Parrish that Wydredge would have to have a controlling interest. (*Cutrubus deposition pages 48-49 R-188.*) Cutrubus had expertise with financing arrangements for hotel property and Wyman and Eldredge each had expertise in operating and managing hotel property. (*Cutrubus deposition page 28 R-183 and pages 62-65 R-192.*) (*Wyman deposition pages 2-7 R-215-216.*) Parrish had cash and land, but no ability to arrange long-term financing. Accordingly, Parrish responded by saying "49% of a hotel is better than 100% of nothing so I have no problems with that". (*Cutrubus deposition page 28 R-183.*) (*Wyman deposition page 31 R-222.*)

To insure there were no misunderstandings, Cutrubus requested Parrish to summarize what everyone agreed to and fax it to Jim Rumpsa ("Rumpsa"), (another member of Wydredge) so that Rumpsa could work with Parrish to put the agreement

in writing. (*Rumpsa Affidavit R-170.*) That written summary was requested so that if certain objective criteria were met, the project could move forward under defined terms. Wydredge wanted this agreement in place prior to investing its time and expertise. (*Rumpsa Affidavit R-170.*) Parrish was also eager to get the project under way and faxed his typed summary of the conclusion of the meeting before the end of that day. (*Rumpsa Affidavit R-170.*) That faxed summary provided that a formal and legal agreement would be drawn and signed by all members prior to the first shovel being turned for the project. (*Exhibit 17 R-298-300.*)

Parrish had already made an initial agreement with Hawthorne Suites and paid them \$5,000.00 toward a new franchise opportunity. When the joint venture agreement was verbally made with Parrish, it was decided that a different franchise would be used and Wydredge obtained a refund of the \$5,000.00 for Parrish even though it was originally paid as a non-refundable fee. (*Wyman deposition pages 55-57 R-228.*) In this context, Parrish wrote Wydredge confirming that they could enter into a “mutually exciting and profitable venture.” (*Exhibit 15 R-287.*)

Following the November 20, 1997 meeting and December 1, 1997, numerous drafts of a proposed agreement were exchanged between Parrish and Rumpsa and several conversations were had regarding it. (*Rumpsa Affidavit R-171*) (*Parrish deposition page 17 R-206.*) (*Exhibit 19 R-304.*) This agreement contemplated a new entity to be formed between the parties in developing the hotel project and their

respective percent interests was based upon the understanding between Parrish and Cutrubus that Parrish wanted to be a partner in the hotel project but did not want to be responsible for the financing. Cutrubus insisted he would not be a partner in any situation unless he had control. Parrish agreed to these terms. (*Cutrubus deposition pages 48-49 R-188.*)

After exchanging several drafts of a proposed agreement, an agreement dated December 1, 1997 was finally signed by the parties. (*Exhibit A R-74-75.*) Parrish signed this agreement sometime between December 11 and December 13, 1997. (*Parrish deposition page 10 R-205.*) *This Agreement is contained in the Addendum to this Brief.*

The December 1 agreement, after defining its purpose and the relative interests of the partners, sets forth only two remaining criteria to be satisfied, upon which “the undersigned parties will build and operate the subject hotel.” The two criteria to be satisfied were “determination that such a lodging facility can be constructed on the subject parcel without any significant or unusual site costs, and financing can be obtained for 60% or more of the total projected costs at an interest rate not to exceed 1% over prime.” With respect to the first criteria, Eldredge hired a company to do an environmental study and then canceled that study when Parrish told him he had already completed one and there were no significant problems. As for the financing aspect, based on Wydredge’s prior successful operation of Comfort

Suites of Ogden, the loan for which was financed by First Security Bank and the personal financial strength of Homer and Phidia Cutruba, First Security Bank committed to providing financing terms at a rate clearly more favorable than that set forth in the December 1, 1997 letter agreement. (*Rumpha Affidavit R-171.*)

Prior to the signing of the December 1, 1997 letter agreement, Parrish had taken the Wydredge partners to the property that was to be used for development. He showed them some monitoring holes that he claimed were the result of some kind of earlier contamination on the property, but all of that was solved and that this property was capable of permitting construction of a hotel facility. (*Cutruba deposition page 16 R-180.*)

On December 8, 1997, Parrish mailed Cutruba a letter with documentation demonstrating he was financially capable of generating over \$1 million in cash which he could use to pay off all debt on the land and contribute the land as well as the \$650,000 cash as his capital investment to the project. (*Parrish deposition page 9 R-204.*) (*Exhibit 16 R-296-297.*) He requested a projected time table which Wydredge provided soon thereafter. (*Parrish deposition page 15 R-206. Exhibit 18 R-302.*) In this regard, Wyman prepared a checklist of items that needed to be accomplished in order to be able to break ground on the hotel by the projected date of June 15, 1999. (*Exhibit 3 R-231.*)

By the time the December 1, 1997 letter agreement was signed by all parties,

Wyman was 99% certain that a hotel could be constructed on the site and operated profitably. This was based on the proformas that he had developed, a physical inspection of the site as well as assurances from Parrish that the environmental situation was not a problem. (*Wyman deposition page 10 R-217.*) Parrish had also told Wyman that before he bought the property, he had determined that he was going to be able to build a hotel on the property and there was no problem with any contamination. (*Parrish deposition page 8 R-204.*) (*Wyman deposition page 11 R-217.*)

The proformas prepared by Wyman were premised upon a \$5.1 million dollar loan at 9% interest amortized for a 15-year period. (*Wyman deposition page 13 R-217.*) (*Exhibit 8 R-266.*) Therefore, Parrish was going to put up assets valued at over \$1 million dollars while Wydredge would be accepting the liability of a \$5 million dollar debt and taking on the responsibility of supervising the construction of the project and ultimately operating the hotel. Not only was Wyman manager of the Comfort Suites in Ogden, he had extensive prior hotel experience. (*Wyman deposition pages 2-7 R-215-216.*)

Cutrubus met with and arranged for a commitment from First Security Bank to provide the financing for the proposed hotel project. (*Cutrubus deposition pages 30-42 R-184-187.*) (*Exhibit 6 R-233 thru 246.*) Subsequent and better financial commitments were reaffirmed and obtained from First Security Bank by Cutrubus.

(Cutrubus deposition page 82 R-197.) (Exhibit 11 R-270-285.) Wydredge was able to obtain a franchise with Choice Hotels for the project. The franchise was granted in the name of Parrish, but was obtained because of Wydredge's previous contact with Comfort Suites. *(Wyman deposition pages 57-58 R-228-229.)*

Parrish had recommended an architect and final design plans were developed. *(Rumpsa Affidavit R-172.)* The expenses for obtaining the initial architectural plans were paid for by Wydredge. *(Wyman deposition page 42 R-225.)* A soil's report was also completed in connection with the architectural plans. *(Wyman deposition page 27 R-221.)*

Parrish was requested to deposit his financial commitment into a bank account which he refused to do until Articles of Organization and an Operating Agreement were finalized. *(Rumpsa Affidavit R-172.)* On April 2, 1998, all members of Wydredge and Parrish met to review proposed Articles and an Operating Agreement which had been prepared by Rumpsa. Parrish requested one change in the Articles of Organization to require a unanimous vote rather than a majority, before the new company could be dissolved. Parrish complimented Rumpsa on doing an excellent job and that all of his concerns were addressed. The Articles of Organization were signed by the parties. *(Rumpsa Affidavit R-172-173.) (Exhibit 21 R-306-307) & (Exhibit 22 R-309-313.)*

At this meeting, Parrish indicated that the Operating Agreement was

conceptually okay, but he wanted to do a little checking before signing it just to make sure it was "all legal and everything". (*Rumppsa Affidavit R-173.*) *The Articles of Organization and proposed Operating Agreement are contained in the Addendum to this Brief.*

During this meeting also, Parrish indicated that although he had previously agreed to contribute the land and \$650,000 cash, he had neglected to net out his income tax liabilities from the proceeds of some real estate and because of this he would only be able to contribute \$200,000 cash and the land. After some discussion, it was agreed this would still be acceptable but Parrish's ownership would be adjusted to 35% and Wydredge's to 65%. Everyone was willing to commit to these revised terms and the project was still a go. (*Cutrubus deposition page 81 R-196.*) (*Exhibit 10 R-268.*) (*Rumppsa Affidavit R-173.*)

Following that meeting, Rumppsa made several efforts to contact Parrish by phone about signing and recording the documents. Finally, on April 17, 1998, Parrish responded by faxing a new operating agreement which he had drafted. (*Rumppsa Affidavit R-173.*) The substance of the new proposed operating agreement was significantly different from that which Parrish had agreed to at the April 2nd meeting and which was anticipated by the December 1, 1997 letter agreement and all prior discussions. The most significant of the differences in his newly proposed operating agreement was a change in the percentage of ownership of the hotel. He

proposed a 50-50 ownership arrangement which was in total contradiction to all of the discussions that had occurred between he and Wydredge for all of the months preceding that time. (*Rumpsa Affidavit R-173.*) (*Exhibits 26 & 27 R-318-328.*)

At all times Parrish had been informed by Cutrubus that Wydredge would not go into any partnership arrangement without having control. Parrish had always understood this and agreed to the terms, but then subsequently rescinded that agreement. (*Rumpsa Affidavit R-173-174.*)

Wydredge initiated legal action against Parrish requesting specific performance and/or damages and in connection therewith filed a Lis Pendens on the property owned by Parrish.

Parrish filed a Motion for Summary Judgment and claimed that the Lis Pendens was improper and should be declared invalid.

The Summary Judgment hearing was conducted by the Honorable Sandra Peuler on August 2, 1999. Judge Peuler orally granted Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment and ordered the Lis Pendens removed. A formal judgment and order were prepared by Parrish's counsel and signed by the court on August 30, 1999.

Wydredge filed this appeal and in connection therewith filed a Motion to Stay the Release of its Lis Pendens pending this appeal. The Judge denied that motion and ordered the Lis Pendens released.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Wydredge contends that the December 1, 1997 letter agreement, the discussions leading up to the signing of that agreement and the discussions that occurred thereafter together with the signing of the Articles of Organization and discussions relative to the Operating Agreement all formed a valid and enforceable contract. The trial court erred in concluding as a matter of law that the December 1, 1997 letter agreement was vague and lacked sufficient material terms so as to render it enforceable. The Court also erred by failing to consider the oral discussions that occurred between the parties both before and following the signing of that agreement in concluding whether an enforceable contract had been entered into.

Since this was an action for specific performance, the Court erred in ordering Wydredge's Lis Pendens to be dismissed pending this appeal.

ARGUMENT

Summary Judgment is appropriate only when no genuine issue of material facts exist and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Ehlers & Ehlers Architects v. Carbon County* 805 P.2d 789 (Utah App. 1991). In order for Wydredge to successfully oppose a Motion for Summary Judgment and have the issue determined by a fact finder, it is not necessary for Wydredge to prove its legal theory, only that it show facts controverting the facts stated in the moving

party's motion. Salt Lake City Corp. v. James Constructors, Inc. 761 P.2d 42 (Utah App. 1988). In a contract dispute, summary judgment is only appropriate if there is no conflict in the intent of the parties as to the terms of the agreement to be enforced. If such a conflict exists, the agreement is to be determined by a fact finder. Colonial Leasing Co. v. Larsen Bros. Constr. Co. 731 P.2d 483 (Utah 1986).

The threshold question of whether a contract is ambiguous is admittedly a question of law. (Seashores Inc. v. Hancey 738 P.2d 645, 648 (Utah App. 1997) but the appellate court can only affirm summary judgment if the undisputed material facts concerning the party's intent and existence of ambiguity demonstrate the successful moving party's position is correct as a matter of law. Fashion Place Inv., LTD. v. Salt Lake County/Salt Lake Mental Health, et al. 776 P.2d 941 (Utah App. 1989).

In this case, Wydredge claims that the December 1, 1997 letter agreement, the April 2, 1998 Articles of Organization and all of the conversations it had with Parrish preceding and following those agreements were sufficiently clear and precise so as to constitute a valid and enforceable contract. Judge Peuler granted Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment exclusively on the basis of the December 1, 1997 letter agreement claiming it to be vague and lacking in sufficient material terms with regard to the rights and responsibilities of the parties thereby rendering it unenforceable. Wydredge disagrees with this conclusion but more

importantly, claims that any vagueness that may have existed in that agreement was adequately covered by the oral conversations it had with Parrish both before and after that agreement was signed. At a very minimum, the Judge should have permitted a trial to consider the evidence of all parties in determining their intent and whether or not an enforceable contract existed.

It was also error for the trial court to order the release of the Lis Pendens pending this appeal. With the Lis Pendens now released, Wydredge will effectively be prevented from pursuing its main theory of relief in this case, that of specific performance. During the pendency of this appeal, Parrish is now free to encumber, sell or otherwise make it impossible for Wydredge to obtain the relief that it has requested in its underlying legal action.

The very theory and purpose of a Lis Pendens should continue pending an appeal. The term Lis Pendens signifies pending litigation and since plaintiff's appeal continues this litigation the Lis Pendens should remain since it "charges the public with notice of outstanding claims and causes one who deals with property involved in pending litigation to do so at his peril. See Hidden Meadows Dev. Co. v. Mills, 590 P.2d 1244 (Utah 1979).

From the depositions and affidavits submitted with Wydredge's Response to the Summary Judgment Motion, it was uncontroverted that it was Parrish who approached the plaintiff with the idea of going into a hotel business partnership. Parrish was going to put up land and cash. He could not obtain financing on his own.

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