1999

Wydredge, LLC v. Airport Partners, LLC and J. Brent Parrish, individually: Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

The only parties harmed by the inability to reach agreement were defendants. They invested over \$49,000 in architect's fees toward the proposed project, and now face suit by the architect over Wydredge's failure to pay the remaining half of the architect's bill, as Wydredge agreed to do. Wydredge, on the other hand, invested nothing.

Wydredge recorded the lis pendens against defendants' real property not because it claimed a valid interest in the property, but to further harm defendants by preventing any other development of their property. Even if Wydredge's constructive trust claim provided a colorable basis for the lis pendens, dismissal of this action properly resulted in the order that Wydredge release the lis pendens, especially where Wydredge's opposition to defendants' motion for summary judgment did not argue against release of the lis pendens. Wydredge's release of the lis pendens, before seeking a stay of the order directing the release in the Supreme Court, waived any contention Wydredge makes about the propriety of the District Court Minute Entry denying the motion to stay the release filed below. In addition, Wydredge failed to file a notice of appeal from the District Court Minute Entry denying its motion to stay the release.

Thus, the District Court's Order and Judgment dismissing this action with prejudice, and ordering the release of the lis pendens, as well as the Minute Entry denying Wydredge's motion to stay, were proper and should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

I. WYDREDGE'S DECEMBER 1, 1997 LETTER WAS TOO VAGUE AND INDEFINITE TO CREATE AN ENFORCEABLE CONTRACT, AND THE PARTIES NEVER REACHED A MEETING OF THE MINDS AS TO THE ISSUES THE LETTER LEFT UNRESOLVED.

The Utah Supreme Court has held that, "[i]t is fundamental that a meeting of the minds on the integral features of an agreement is essential to the formation of a contract." Richard Barton Enterprises, Inc. v. Tsern, 928 P.2d 368, 373 (Utah 1996).

"An agreement cannot be enforced if its terms are indefinite or demonstrate that there was no intent to contract." Id. In Tsern, the trial court found that the parties agreed to the concept of rent credit, but did not agree as to the amount. Based upon this finding, the trial court ruled that it could fix a reasonable amount.

The Supreme Court overturned the trial court's ruling, reasoning that, "[a] valid modification of a contract or lease requires 'a meeting of the minds of the parties, which must be spelled out, either expressly or impliedly, with sufficient definiteness.'" Id. [quoting Valcarce v. Bitters, 362 P.2d 427 (Utah 1961)]. The Court also stated that, "when parties have not agreed on a reasonable price or a method for determining one, 'the agreement is too indefinite and uncertain for enforcement.'" Id. [quoting Joseph M. Perillo et al., *Corbin on Contracts* § 4.3, at 568 (rev. ed. 1993)]. See also, Lessley v. Hardage, 727 P.2d 440, 446 (Kan. 1986). (The general rule is that for an agreement to be binding, it must be substantially definite as to its terms and requirements as to enable a court to determine what acts are to be performed, and when performance is complete, and the court must be able to fix definitely the legal liability of the parties.)

The primary concern related to the enforcement of indefinite contracts is that the court, rather than the parties, will be required to create key terms of the agreement. The court in Setterlund v. Firestone, 700 P.2d 745, 746 (Wash. 1985) stated that, "[t]he legal principle with which we are concerned is that preliminary agreements must be definite enough on material terms to allow enforcement without a court supplying those terms. The problem is not one of determining how many more terms are

included in one agreement or another, but whether a particular agreement includes sufficient material terms." In Setterlund, the court refused to require specific performance of a promissory note because the parties had not agreed on the amount of interest to be paid.

The court noted that, "the court should not supply those terms upon which the parties have not agreed." Id. The Court concluded that, "the buyers had to prove the existence of a preliminary agreement which contained terms specific enough to be enforced without the court drafting the final documents." Id. See also, Griffin v. Griffin, 699 P.2d 407, 409 (Colo. 1985) (Agreements by which parties merely agree to negotiate and reach agreement at some future time are ordinarily unenforceable, because the court has no power to force the parties to reach agreement and cannot grant a remedy); Hauser v. Rose Health Care Systems, 857 P.2d 524, 528 (Colo. App. 1993), cert.den. 1993 Colo.App. LEXIS 50 (Aug. 30, 1993) (A contract is not enforceable if it appears that further negotiations are required to work out essential terms).

Here, like Tsern, the parties entered into preliminary negotiations and reached consensus on some basic concepts. However, the Letter which Wydredge is attempting to enforce is not definite enough to be enforceable. The parties simply did not agree, and in fact disagreed, about many key material terms of the proposed final operating agreement.

For example, defendants' November 20, 1997 memo required the parties to agree upon an "exit strategy" (Aple. Add. B). Similarly, Wydredge's December 1,

1997 Letter required the parties to agree upon "terms under which one or more members may dispose of their interest" (Aplt. Add. 1). It is undisputed that no such agreement was ever reached. (Compare Aplt. Add. 3 with Aple. Add. C.)

Also, both the November 20, 1997 memo and December 1, 1997 Letter indicated that in return for a 49% interest in the project, defendants would be required to invest no more than their real property and \$650,000. However, under Article V of Wydredge's proposed operating agreement, defendants could be required to invest additional capital in the project, under pain of having their percentage interest in the project diluted (Aplt. Add. 3, R. 310).

Also, according to Wydredge, the parties never reached agreement on sharing of initial costs of the project, such as architect's fees. Under the November 20, 1997 memo and December 1, 1997 Letter, Wydredge was supposed to pay 50%-51% of these fees. However, Wydredge's proposed operating agreement was silent on the issue, and Wydredge's position was that it was only required to pay \$2,000 of an architect's bill that was over \$80,000. (Cutrubus Depo., pp. 44-46, 92-94, R. 187-188; Wyman Depo., pp. 39-42, R. 224-225.) In addition, the Letter was silent upon, and the parties never reached agreement as to, a myriad of issues addressed in the proposed operating agreements of Wydredge and defendants, respectively. See, paragraph 26 of defendants' Statement of Facts above, subparagraphs a. through j.

Wydredge contends that defendants breached the Letter by attempting to change their percentage interest in the proposed project. However, no final agreement

on defendants' percentage interest was ever reached. (Aple. Add. B; Aplt. Add. 1; R. 382; R. 330-334.)

It is undisputed that the parties never considered the Letter to be anything more than a letter of intent, subject to later negotiation of a formal written contract. Defendants' November 20, 1997 memo required a "formal and legal agreement" to be executed. Similarly, Wydredge's December 1, 1997 Letter required the parties to enter into an "operating agreement" for the new LLC the parties planned to form.¹²

It is similarly undisputed that defendants never agreed to the terms of Wydredge's proposed operating agreement. While defendants may have indicated agreement in principal, any such agreement was subject to review of the operating agreement by defendants' counsel. (Rumpsa Aff., ¶ 10, R. 173; R. 382.) After their counsel's review of Wydredge's proposed agreement, defendants decided to propose their own operating agreement, and the parties were never able to reconcile the two. (Aple. Add. C; R. 330-334.)

Any conditional approval of Wydredge's proposed operating agreement by defendants did not create a binding contract. Wydredge cites C&Y Corp. v. General Biometrics, Inc., 896 P.2d 47 (Utah App. 1995) for the proposition that the parties need not agree upon all details of a contract in order for it to be enforceable, so long as there is agreement upon the essential terms. However, in C&Y Corp. this Court found that the alleged contract was not enforceable, in part because one party's agreement to

¹²It is also undisputed that the new LLC was never formed or organized because the parties never filed the Articles of Organization they signed. See, Utah Code Ann. §§ 48-2b-103(1) and 118(1)

the contract was made subject to approval by the party's board of directors. Similarly, here, conditional approval of the concept of Wydredge's proposed operating agreement, subject to review by defendants' counsel, was not binding.

Wydredge also cites Nixon and Nixon, Inc. v. John New & Assoc., Inc., 641 P.2d 144 (Utah 1982) for the same proposition as C&Y Corp., supra. However, in Nixon, the parties had reached agreement on all terms of the contract except the timing of performance. The court relied upon law to the effect that where a contract is silent as to the time for performance, it will be presumed that the parties intended completion of performance within a reasonable time under all the circumstances. Here, it would have been impossible for the District Court to have determined "reasonable" terms upon which the parties could dispose of their interest in the project, "reasonable" percentage interests in the project, or a "reasonable" cost sharing allocation. Instead, the District Court would have had to create an agreement the parties themselves were never able to reach, which the District Court properly refused to do. See, Setterlund, supra.

Wydredge cites Shields v. Harris, 934 P.2d 653 (Utah App. 1997) as support for using parol evidence to prove an enforceable contract. In Shields, the court was able to harmonize two lease and option to purchase proposals. Here, however, the parol evidence is merely further evidence of the parties' inability to agree. Neither the District Court nor the parties could "harmonize" the two operating agreements proposed by the respective parties. (Aplt. Add. 3; Aple. Add. C.)

Wydredge's proposed operating agreement (1) omitted terms found in its December 1, 1997 Letter (e.g., the 51%/49% cost sharing), (2) had terms contrary to the Letter (e.g., a provision that defendants could be required to make capital contributions beyond their real property and initial cash contribution, or have their interest diluted), and (3) contained numerous terms not contained in the Letter, upon which the parties were never able to agree. See, paragraph 26 of defendants' Statement of Facts, above, subparagraphs a. through j. Under *Utah Code Ann.* § 48-2b-126(1), the members of an LLC must reach "unanimous consent" upon the terms of an operating agreement, which never occurred here.

The purpose of Wydredge's December 1, 1997 Letter was to create a procedure to determine whether the hotel project was feasible. Paragraph 2 of the Letter states: "The feasibility of constructing on this site [defendants' real property] a hotel with approximately 100 rooms will be investigated." (Aplt. Add. 1, emphasis added.) See also, Rumpsa Aff. ¶¶ 1 and 3, R. 169-170; Wydredge's memorandum in opposition to defendants' motion for summary judgment, p. 5, ¶ 21, R. 160; Appellants' Brief, p. 5. However, no determination of feasibility was ever made.

While the defendants were attempting to negotiate the terms of the operating agreement, defendants discovered solvent contamination that Alamo may not have been obligated to remediate, and that may not have been covered by Alamo's indemnity. (R. 140, 330-334, 353-366; Parrish Depo. pp. 30-37, R. 210-211; Cutrubus Depo., pp. 84-85, R. 197.) This solvent contamination may have prevented Wydredge from obtaining the financing necessary for the hotel project, as contemplated in Wydredge's

December 1, 1997 Letter. (Aplt Add. 1, ¶ 3; Cutrubus Depo., pp. 32-37, 86-87; R. 184-185, 198.) At the very least, the solvent contamination may have created "significant or unusual site costs" that would have prevented development even under the Letter. (Aplt. Add. 1, ¶ 3; Parrish Depo., pp. 30-37; R. 210-211; R. 330-334.) Moreover, Wydredge wanted no part of the solvent contamination. (Cutrubus Depo., pp. 87-89, 94-95, R. 198, 200.)

The only parties hurt by the inability to reach agreement on the terms of an enforceable contract were defendants. After the December 1, 1997 Letter was signed, Wydredge did not invest one penny in the proposed project. (Wyman Depo., pp. 46-48, R. 226.) Defendants, on the other hand, invested over \$49,000 in architect's fees, while still facing suit by the architect, over Wydredge's failure to pay the remaining half of that bill, as it agreed to do. (R. 142.)

For these reasons, Wydredge's December 1, 1997 Letter, along with any supplementary parol evidence, were too vague and indefinite to create an enforceable contract.

**II. WYDREDGE'S OBLIGATIONS UNDER ITS
DECEMBER 1, 1997 LETTER WERE TOO
ILLUSORY FOR THE LETTER TO BE
ENFORCEABLE.**

The Utah Supreme Court has held that, "[w]hen there exists only the facade of a promise, i.e., a statement made in such vague or conditional terms that the person making it commits himself to nothing, the alleged 'promise' is said to be 'illusory'."

Resource Management Company v. Weston Ranch and Livestock Co., Inc., 706 P.2d

1028, 1036 (Utah 1985). The Court continued: "An illusory promise neither binds the person making it, . . . nor functions as consideration in return for the promise." Id. [citing 1 *Corbin on Contracts* § 145 (1963)]. See also, Davis v. General Foods Corp., 21 F.Supp. 445 (S.D.N.Y. 1937) (Where the promisor retains an unlimited right to decide the nature or extent of his performance, the promise is illusory and too indefinite for legal enforcement); Wharf Restaurant, Inc. v. Port of Seattle, 605 P.2d 334, 339 (Wash. App. 1979) (A supposed promise is illusory when it is so indefinite that it cannot be enforced, or where its provisions are such as to make its performance optional or entirely discretionary on the part of the claimed promisor).

Here, Wydredge's December 1, 1997 Letter is illusory in several ways.¹³ First, as argued above, the Letter is indefinite and vague. The rights and duties of the parties are uncertain and, thus, unenforceable.

In addition, the Letter is illusory because Wydredge could avoid its obligations thereunder at its sole discretion, if it determined that the proposed hotel would not generate sufficient profit. (Cutrube Depo. p. 25-27, R. 182-183.) It was also Wydredge's position that it could have immediately sold defendants' real property

¹³Defendants argued that the Letter was illusory in their memorandum in support of their motion for summary judgment. (R. 67-69.) However, Wydredge never responded to this argument in their memorandum in opposition (R. 156-334) and, thus, waived any argument on this appeal. See, Strawberry Electric Service District, *supra*. Also, although the District Court did not expressly rule that the contract was illusory, the District Court may be affirmed on any ground argued below. See, Salt Lake County v. Bangerter, 928 P.2d 384, 386 (Utah 1996).

and pocketed 51 % (or 65 %) of the proceeds from the sale, without contributing anything to the project. (Cutrubus Depo., pp. 52-55, R. 189-190.)

Any financing commitment Wydredge alleges it obtained was also illusory, because Wydredge never signed the alleged commitment or paid the requisite fees. (Cutrubus Depo., pp. 40-41, R. 186.) Also, any such commitment was subject to the lender's due diligence, including an appraisal of defendants' real property (which the Letter also required) and an environmental assessment, neither of which Wydredge ever obtained. (Cutrubus Depo., pp. 27-28, 32-37, 39-40, 66-68, R. 183-186, 193; Wyman Depo., pp. 26-28, R. 221.) Consistent with the foregoing, Wydredge never made a determination whether to go forward with the project. (Cutrubus Depo., p. 92, R. 199.)

Thus, Wydredge's December 1, 1997 Letter was not enforceable for these reasons as well.

III. IT WAS PROPER FOR THE DISTRICT COURT TO ORDER THE RELEASE OF THE LIS PENDENS WYDREDGE RECORDED AGAINST DEFENDANTS' REAL PROPERTY AND TO DENY WYDREDGE'S MOTION TO STAY THE RELEASE.

As discussed above, Wydredge never filed a notice of appeal from the District Court order denying Wydredge's Motion to Stay Release of Lis Pendens (November 30, 1999 Minute Entry, Aplt. Add. 6). In addition, the issue is moot or has been waived by Wydredge because after the District Court denied Wydredge's Motion to Stay, Wydredge signed a release of the lis pendens, which defendants promptly recorded, well before Wydredge filed its Motion to Stay Release of Lis

Pendens Pending Appeal in this Court (Aple. Add. A). See, Ottenheimer v. Mountain States Supply Co., 56 Utah 190, 193, 188 P. 1117, 1118 (1920). For these reasons alone, this portion of Wydredge's appeal must be dismissed.

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